IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 79,052

3RD DCA CASE NO: 90-812

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

TRAVELERS INDEMNITY COMPANY

Petitioner,

V.

JULIO CEASAR SUAZO, ETC., ET. AL.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ANGONES HUNTER MCCLURE LYNCH & WILLIAMS, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioner Travelers
66 West Flagler Street
Ninth Floor
Miami, FL 33130
Telephone: (305)371-5000

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a Final Order determining the amount of insurance coverage required to be provided by Travelers Indemnity Company (Travelers) to its insureds, Barbara M. Del Busto and Delia Del Busto (Del Busto). This initial brief is submitted by the Petitioner Travelers. The Plaintiffs/Respondents Julio Ceasar Suazo, by and through his mother and next friend, Zoila Suazo, and Zoila Suazo, individually will be referred to collectively as Suazo. References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" while references to the appendix to this brief will be by the symbol "App."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Suazo initially filed a complaint seeking damages for personal injuries sustained by the minor Suazo boy when he was struck by a school bus **owned** and operated by Del Busto. (R. 1-3) The bus, with a seating capacity in excess of 24 students, was used to transport pupils from a public elementary school to a private after-school care facility. Following a mediation hearing, Suazo and Del Busto entered into a settlement agreement stipulating that Suazo sustained \$25,000 in damages. The parties further agree that if the Appellate Court ruled that the policy of insurance issued by Travelers to Del Busto only provides \$10,000 in coverage, the plaintiffs would accept the \$10,000 plus costs in total settlement of their claim. (R. 1-3) Travelers then voluntarily appeared or intervened in the action in order to determine the applicable amount of coverage available for payment of the claim.

Suazo contended that the appropriate limits were \$100,000 per person/\$300,000 per incident while Travelers contended that the appropriate levels of coverage were \$10,000 per person/\$300,000 per incident. Travelers position in this respect was based on the actual policy issued to its insured, Del Busto. There is no question that the policy issued to Del Busto covered the period from February 15, 1988 to February 15, 1989 and contained limits of \$10,000 per person/\$300,000 per accident. However, Suazo contends that the policy was issued in violation of certain statutory requirements and that accordingly it should be reformed to alleged statutorilymandated levels of coverage-\$100,000 per person/300,000

per incident. The trial court ultimately agreed with Travelers' position and entered the following Final Judgment:

Company have stipulated that this court has jurisdiction to determine the amount of insurance coverage afforded to the defendants applicable to the claim filed herein, and pursuant thereto, this court hereby finds that the Travelers Insurance policy applicable to the awards claim is in the amount of \$10,000.

Following entry of the aforementioned Judgment, Suazo appealed to the Third District Court of Appeals. The Third District ultimately agreed with Suazo (R. 4-12; App. 1-9) concluding that the legislature intended non-public sector school buses carrying more than 24 students to maintain tort liability coverage of not less than \$100,000 per person. The court then granted Travelers request for certification of the following question:

What is the minimum amount of insurance required on a per-person basis for private school buses with more than 24 seats which are within the class described by Section 316.615, Fla. Stat. (1989)?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While the court should not allow an agency to place construction on a statute or a rule which is clearly contrary to the unambiguous language of the statute or rule, as the Third District's opinion recognizes, the statutes and regulations in question here are "vague and conflicting" and we submit at best-ambiguous. Under these circumstances great deference should be given to the interpretation adopted by the agency that promulgated the regulation and administers the statute-the Florida Highway Patrol. Further, since Travelers's position is in accord with that adopted by the Highway Patrol, the Third District's ruling should be quashed.

Alternatively, Travelers submits that in light of the actual statutory and regulatory language in question, the most reasonable interpretation is that the required minimum coverage should be equal to \$10,000 per person plus the number of seats on the bus in question times \$5,000 per incident.

In sum, Travelers asserts that in light of the absence of statutory provisions or regulations to the contrary, the Travelers had a right to limit its liability and to impose such conditions as they wished upon their obligations under the contract in question. The courts are simply without the right to add to **or** take away anything from the Travelers policy and accordingly, the Third District's ruling should be quashed.

ARGUMENT

THE MINIMUM AMOUNT OF INSURANCE REQUIRED ON A PER PERSON BASIS FOR PRIVATE BUSES WITH MORE THAN 24 SEATS WHICH ARE WITHIN THE CLASS DESCRIBED BY SECTION 316.615 FLA. STAT. (1989) IS \$10,000 PER PERSON/THE NUMBER OF SEATS TIMES \$5,000 PER INCIDENT.

In Suazo the Third District waded through a series of vague and conflicting statutes to conclude that the legislature intended buses carrying more than 24 students to maintain tart liability coverage of not less than \$100,000 per person. As the concurring opinion in Suazo recognizes, the Suazos' original contention that the applicable level of insurance coverage as specified in \$627.742 Fla. Stat. (1986) is erroneous since the statute contains an express exclusion which states:

(2) School buses subject to the provisions of Chapter 234 or s. 316.615 are exempt from the provisions of this section.

Section 316.615 in turn indicates at ss. 1(a) that:

[A]ll motor vehicles, other than private passenger automobiles and school buses with a seating capacity of less than 24 pupils, which are used primarily for the transportation of pupils to school, for which are not operated by or under the purview of the state or a political subdivision thereof or under a franchise issued by a municipality or the public service commission, shall comply with the requirements for school buses of Chapter 234.

Subsection 4 of the same statute indicates that:

All school buses and all motor vehicles covered by subsection 1 shall be inspected

annually by the department and, when found satisfactory for safe operation, shall display on the vehicle a current certificate of inspection.

Neither 5316.615 or Chapter 234 contain any indication of the specific amount of insurance to be carried by a non-public sector school bus having in excess of 24 seats. Instead the actual requirement is contained in the administrative regulations developed by the Florida Highway Patrol pursuant to the legislative grant of authority contained in §316.615(6) and §321.05(6)(a). The actual regulations are contained in the "School Bus Inspection and Transportation Manual." The governing provision, Section 3.28.00 entitled "Liability Insurance-Inspect For" indicates that:

Every school bus will carry liability insurance in the minimum amount as required in Section 234.03, Fla. Stat., to protect the pupils it is transporting. The amount shall be equal to \$5,000 multiplied by the rated seating capacity of the bus, or \$100,000, whichever is greater.

The following shall be checked while inspecting the liability insurance:

- A. The expiration date of the insurance policy.
- B. The amount of insurance \blacksquare (App. 10)

Travelers submits that the regulation promulgated by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles sets a minimum requirement on a per occurrence as opposed to a per person basis. 1

^{&#}x27;Accordingly, the only requirement otherwise applicable on a per person basis is that set forth in Section 324.021(7) Fla. Stat. (1986) which requires coverage "in the amount of \$10,000 because of bodily injury to, or death of, one person in one accident." Clearly, the Travelers provision in question meets the minimum requirement since there is \$10,000 per person and an amount of

Once the "School Bus Inspection and Transportation Manual" was filed with the Third District in conjunction with the brief filed by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, the undersigned attempted to ascertain whether or not the Del Busto bus had passed inspection with the Florida Highway Patrol. We ultimately learned that the Traveler's policy in question, BAC 9586527 had, in the opinion of the state agency charged with determining the amount of appropriate coverage, met the minimum requirements. A copy of the inspection certificate was then filed with the Third District. (App. 11)

Contrary to the Third District's opinion, the State agency charged with regulating the insurance coverage at issue has interpreted the applicable regulation to require minimum coverage of \$10,000 per person and the number of seats times \$5,000 per occurrence—the levels present the Travelers policy. This interpretation is also in conformity with the minimum coverage required by Section 30-371(g)(c) of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County which indicates that:

The amount of insurance shall be carried in the sum of not less than \$10,000 (Ten Thousand Dollars and 00/100 Cents) for bodily injury, or death resulting therefrom, to any one pupil and shall, for any one accident, be not less than \$5,000 (Five Thousand Dollars and 00/100 Cents) multiplied by the rated seating capacity of the vehicle.

Hence, the Third District's opinion to the great detriment of all carriers who have been issuing policies in reliance upon approval

coverage per occurrence in excess of the number of seats times \$5,000.

by the Highway Patrol, in effect also contradicts the Dade County Ordinance addressing the same issue.

In sum, the interpretation placed upon the regulations by the Highway Patrol, the Code of Metropolitan Dade County and the actual regulations promulgated by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles support our position. Since it is well established that an agency's interpretation of its own regulations is entitled to great deference and weight, See E.g. Knight v. Mundv Plastering Company, 220 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1968); Woodley v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 505 So.2d 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) and Reedv Creek Imperial District v. The State Department of Environmental Regulation, 486 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) and since the applicable regulation does not clarifywhether the amount outlined in the regulation is on a per person or per occurrence basis, we submit that the Third District's ruling is erroneous.

The court should also note that Florida Courts have repeatedly emphasized that caution should be exercised when the court is called upon to declare a contract provision void on grounds of public policy. In absence of an express legislative or constitutional prohibition, a court, in order to declare a provision void or in order (as requested here) to reform a contract based an a statutory or regulatory requirement, must find definite indications in the law to justify invalidation of the provision actually agreed upon. E. g. Bituminous Casualty Corp. v. Williams, 17 \$0.2d 98 (Fla. 1944) and France v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 380 \$0.2d 1155 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980). In light of this general

principle, we submit the most reasonable interpretation of the applicable regulation is that it imposes a minimum limit on a per occurrence as opposed to a per person basis. If anything, the language of the regulation appears to support this interpretation since it is phrased in terms of "pupils" and it sets the amount of coverage based on the number of seats in the bus.

Obviously, if the regulation was designed to set limits based on a per person basis, it would have indicated that it was designed to protect "each pupil" being transported as opposed to "pupils" and there would have been no reason to set the amount of coverage based on the number of seats on the bus. On the other hand, it is logical that the amount of coverage per occurrence (applicable to all claims for accidents) should be linked to the amount of seats on the bus because it assumes multiple claims and such a requirement insures adequate coverage for each pupil. Simply put, there is no reason why the amount of coverage available to a person for damages suffered as a result of a particular accident should be arbitrarily determined by the number of seats on the bus. Under this scenario, the person injured on a bus with 10 seats would have \$50,000 in available coverage while a person on a bus with 20 seats would have \$100,000 in coverage.

In requesting certification we emphasized, as the concurring opinion from the Third District noted, that the two state agencies allegedly having jurisdiction to regulate the insurance levels for private school buses disagreed as to the appropriate levels of coverage. In light of this factor, in light of the Third

District's admission that the statutes governing the issue or "vague and conflicting" (App. 2) and contain "awkward wording" (App. 3) and in light of the great numbers of private school buses, and hence school children affected by this ruling, we believe that this court should exercise its jurisdiction in reverse the Third District's opinion.

Obviously the Third District's ruling is to the great detriment of all carriers who have been issuing policies in reliance upon approval by the Highway Patrol. There is no question that the opinion will have a devastating impact from a financial standpoint upon carriers which must now conform existing policies to provide at a minimum, \$100,000 coverage per-person and if the bus contains more than 20 seats, as this bus did, even more coverage, One would also anticipate that since at the time the policies were applied for, uninsured motorist coverage in this amount was also not offered, it will undoubtedly also be contended that uninsured motorist coverage must also now be provided in the same amount. In light of this ruling, in light of the fact that premiums corresponding to the greatly increased risk have not been collected, in light of the fact that significant steps must now be taken to reform or issue policies to conform with the ruling with the court, the tenuous interpretation adopted by the Third District will have a significant financial impact upon numerous carriers in the state without any corresponding recoupment in the form of premiums. Carriers can simply not operate under circumstances and rather than setting a requirement at this point

based on such a tenuous interpretation, the court should simply await appropriate legislative enactment and approve the trial court's ruling.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Third District's ruling should be quashed and the trial court's ruling reinstated.