IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,052

THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 90-812

TRAVELERS INDEMNITY COMPANY

Petitioner,

vs.

JULIO CEASAR SUAZO, etc. et al.

Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF DAVID C. ARNOLD
Attorney for Respondents
9130 South Dadeland Boulevard, Suite 1617
Miami, Florida 33156
(305) 670-2200

#

#### INTRODUCTION

Respondents will use the same references and abbreviations as set forth in Petitioner's Introduction. Reference to Petitioner's brief will be made by the symbol "P" followed by the page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents concur with Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

### CERTIFIED QUESTION

What is the minimum amount of insurance required on a per person basis for private school buses with more than twenty-four (24) seats which are within the class described by Section 316.615, Fla. Stat. (1989)?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is clear that all non-public sector buses must carry liability insurance coverage in the amount of \$100,000.00 because of bodily injury to one person in any accident. It is also clear that all school buses defined under Fla. Stat. 234 must have a minimum of \$100,000.00 liability insurance. The Department of Transportation and the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles have each established rules reiterating that minimum insurance requirement. Florida Statute 234.03 references Fla. Stat. 768.28 which also specifies minimum single limit coverage of \$100,000.00. To construe the applicable Florida Statutes to require \$100,000.00 minimum coverage in every instance except for private school buses would be both illogical and would avoid the obvious intent of the legislature. Since the policy issued by Travelers does not provide the minimum insurance mandated by statute, it must be construed and applied as if it were in full compliance.

The finding by the Third District Court of Appeal that the legislature intended buses carrying more than twenty-four students to maintain tort liability coverage of not less than \$100,000.00 per person and that the policy of insurance issued by Travelers to the Del Bustos must be contstrued accordingly, should be affirmed. Alternatively, the Court should decline its discretionary review on the basis that the issues presented are not of great public importance because 627.742 Fla. Stat. will be repealed and reviewed by the legislature on October 1, 1992 under the Regulatory Sunset Act.

#### ARGUMENT

The Minimum Amount Of Insurance Required On A Per Person Basis For Private School Buses With More Than Twenty-Four Seats Which Are Within The Class Described By Section 316.615 Fla. Stat. (1989) Is \$100,000.00 Per Person.

There are three pertinent Florida Statutes which apply to mandated insurance coverage for buses: 627.742, 316.615 and 234.03.

bus to carry (a) proof of ability to respond to damages for liability for bodily injury in the amount of \$100,000.00 for one person and \$300,000.00 for two or more persons; or (b) an insurance policy for liability "in a sum not less than \$300,000.00." The DEL BUSTO bus, by stipulation, was both a non-public sector bus and a school bus (R-1-3). Some confusion arises because 627.742(2) states that "School buses subject to the provisions of chapter 234 or \$.316.615 are exempt from the provisions of this section."

We therefore look to see if the DEL BUSTO bus was subject to the provisions of chapter 234 or 316.615 of the Florida Statutes. In first looking at chapter 234, we note that 234.051 Fla. Stat. (1989) defines a school bus only as those buses owned, operated, rented, contracted or leased by any school board. The DEL BUSTO bus would therefore not come within the definition of a school bus under chapter 234.

We next look to 316.615(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1986). That section requires all motor vehicles with a seating capacity of 24 or more

pupils which are used primarily for the transportation of pupils to school but which are not operated by or under the purview of the state or political subdivision thereof, or a franchise operated by a municipality or public service commission to comply with the requirements of school buses of chapter 234. The DEL BUSTO bus comes within the definition of a motor vehicle as set forth in 316.615(1)(b) and therefore, pursuant to that statute, must comply with the requirements of Chapter 234.

Subsection 316.615(6) also requires the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles to promulgate such rules and regulations as are necessary to effect the purposes of this section. Our search far appropriate insurance coverage is, therefore, directed back to chapter 234 and to the rules promulgated by the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.

Florida Statute 234.03 entitled "Tort Liability: Liability Insurance" requires each school board to be liable for tort claims as set forth under 768.28 Fla. Stat. with total liability being in "an amount equal to \$5,000.00 multiplied by the rated seating capacity of the bus..., or \$100,000.00 whichever is greater." (Emphasis supplied.)

If we look to 768.28(5) Fla. Stat. (1987) that subsection requires liability for any claim by any one person in the amount of \$100,000.00 and liability for total claims arising out of one incident, in the amount of \$200,000.00.

The Department of Transportation, in its amicus curiae brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal stated that its

Administrative Code Rule 14-82-009 is applicable and requires \$100,000.00 of liability insurance for bodily injury to one person.

(App. 3, pg. 3, 4, 9). The Department of Insurance, in its amicus curiae brief, concurred with the Department of Transportation.

(App. 4). The Department of Highway safety and Motor Vehicles in its amicus curiae brief, on the other hand, maintained that pursuant to 316.615(6) it promulgated Florida Administrative Code Rule 15B-4.001(1)(o) (1981) and the School Bus Inspection and Student Transportation Manual and require minimum liability insurance equal to \$5,000.00 multiplied by the rated seating capacity of the bus or \$100,000.00 whichever is greater. (App. 5, pg. 1,2). This is required as a minimum coverage.

In either case, by any of the statutes referred to above, or by the rules and regulations promulgated by the various departments, the minimum insurance requirements applicable to a private sector school bus is \$100,000.00.

TRAVELERS claims the Florida Highway Patrol only requires \$10,000.00 single limits insurance and their interpretation should be given great deference. (P. 6) TRAVELERS cites Section 324.021(7) Fla. Stat. (1986) as authority. That section, however, only defines proof of financial responsibility and does not require anything. In fact, the Florida Highway Patrol requires a minimum of \$100,000.00 for school buses as set forth in the amicus curiae brief of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (App. 5, pg. 1, 2).

TRAVELERS also cites as authority, Section 30-371(g)(c) of the

Code of Metropolitan Dade County which is antiquated. Section 30-372(1)(a) of the Code of Metropolitan Dade County restates Chapter 316.615 and requires all motor vehicles with a seating capacity of 24 or more pupils used primarily for the transportation of pupils to school, to comply with the requirements for school buses of Chapter 234, F.S. In fact, Dade County Transportation Administration requires liability and insurance in the amount of \$100,000.00 per person and \$5,000.00 times the rated seating capacity of the bus per occurrence. TRAVELERS' argument in this regard is not supported by statute or the facts.

Alternatively, TRAVELERS argues that the most reasonable interpretation to be given to the statutes is that the \$100,000.00 minimum insurance requirement is per occurrence and not per person and that only \$10,000.00 per person insurance coverage is required.

(P. 9) If that were so, every bus in the state of Florida would require \$100,000.00 minimum insurance coverage per person except private school buses carrying children to school and to afterschool activities. None of the statutes or rules pertaining to insurance requirements for buses require or even mention \$10,000.00 per person insurance coverage. They all require a minimum of \$100,000.00 of insurance.

If we followed TRAVELERS' argument to conclusion, TRAVELERS would ask the Court to declare that for private school buses there is no required insurance coverage on a per person basis and \$100,000.00 on a per occurrence basis. How would TRAVELERS purport to pay those claims: i.e., When their total zero dollar liability

per person adds up to \$100,000.00, they would then pay the claim? TRAVELERS' reasoning in this regard is both unreasonable and illogical.

It would be unreasonable to believe that the legislature intended to leave the only unprotected bus passengers in this state to be minor children on private buses while requiring all other bus passengers to have insurance protection of a minimum of \$100,000.00. It is a "....long-established principle that when statutes are susceptible of and in need of interpretation or construction, they will be construed so as to avoid illogical results. Tampa-Hillsborough County v. K.E. Morris Alignment Serv., Inc., 444 So.2d 926, 929 (Fla. 1983). Moreover, statutes should be construed to effect the obvious intent of the legislature. Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918); Curry v. Lehman, 55 Fla. 847, 47 So. 18 (1908)." (R. 6).

Lastly, TRAVELERS maintains that the courts are without right to add or take away from their insurance policy (P. 8-10). The Third District Court of Appeal did not add or take anything away from TRAVELERS' policy, it merely enforced Section 627.412(1) Fla. Stat. (1989) and 627.418 Fla. Stat. (1989) by construing and applying TRAVELERS' policies as though it were in full compliance with Florida Statutes.

TRAVELERS attached a school bus inspection form as Appendix 11 to its Brief on the Merits. Respondents have moved to strike that appendix by a separate Motion to Strike. TRAVELERS attached Appendix 11 in support of its argument that, "The Third District's

ruling is to the great detriment of all carriers who have been issuing policies in reliance on approval by the Highway Patrol." That is clearly erroneous and is **not** substantiated by the record for the reasons set forth in the Motion to Strike. Both the Florida Highway Patrol and Dade County Transportation Administration enforce state statutes and both require private school buses to maintain a minimum of \$100,000.00 liability insurance **per** person.

#### CONCLUSION

The Third District Court of Appeal made a thoughtful and well reasoned analysis of the insurance requirements to be applied on a per person basis far a privately awned school bus upon the facts as stipulated by the parties. They took into consideration the position of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, Department of Transportation, and the Department of Insurance. For the reasons set forth above, and as opined by the unanimous opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal, the Third District's ruling should be affirmed and the answer to the certified question should be \$100,000.00.

Alternatively, the Court should decline its discretionary review on the basis that the issues presented are not of great public importance because 627.742 Fla. Stat. will be repealed and reviewed by the legislature an October 1, 1992 under the Regulatory Sunset Act.